

Missionary Diocese of All Saints
Policies on Ethics and Integrity in Ministry



September 2011

Acknowledgment:

*This document has been adapted with permission from
the Episcopal Diocese of Fort Worth (ACNA).*

Table of Contents

Contact Information	5
I. Principles of Ethics and Integrity in Ministry: Code of Conduct	6
II. General Definitions	6
A. Church Personnel	6
B. Types of Misconduct	7
III. Prevention of Moral Misconduct: Guidelines for Ethical Behavior	8
A. Definitions	8
B. Standards of the Diocese as to Prevention of Immoral Conduct	8
IV. Prevention of Harassment: Guidelines for Professionals	9
A. Definitions	9
B. Standards of the Diocese as to Prevention of Harassment	9
V. Prevention of Exploitation: Guidelines for Pastoral Counseling	9
A. Definitions	9
B. Standards of the Diocese in Prevention of Exploitation	10
C. Standards of the Diocese as to Confidentiality	10
D. Standards of the Diocese as to Conflict of Interest	11
VI. Policy for Protection of Children and Youth	11
Code of Conduct for Protection of Children and Youth	12
A. General Definitions	12
1. Church Personnel	12
2. Children and Youth	12
3. Adult	12
4. Regularly or Occasionally Work With or Around Children or Youth	12
5. Types of Abuse	14
B. Safeguards for Children and Youth	14
1. Screening and Selection	14
2. Education and Training Requirements	15
3. Monitoring and Supervision of Programs	15
4. General Conduct for the Protection of Children and Youth	16
VII. Responding to Problems	18
A. Reporting Inappropriate Behavior or Policy Violations with Children or Youth	18
B. Reporting Suspected Abuse of Children or Youth	18
Appendix A. Standards for Appropriate Affection	20
Behavior Standards	21
Behaviors to Avoid	23
Appendix B. Confidential Notice of Concern	24
Appendix C. Reporting Child Abuse or Neglect	26
Appendix D. Sample Application Forms, Code of Conduct and Acknowledgment,	

	Release and Signature	27
Appendix E.	Response Procedures for a Complaint	32
Appendix F.	Criminal Records Check Standard Procedure	36
Appendix G.	Child Abuse Reporting Statute Websites	37

Contact Information

The Rt. Rev. William H. Ilgenfritz, Bishop

40 Delsandro Drive
Donora, PA 15033
Phone 724-470-6888
bpwhi@comcast.net

The Rt. Rev. Richard W. Lipka, Suffragan Bishop

11021 Worcester Highway
Berlin, MD 21811
Phone 410-641-4882
Fax 410-641-4957
cecdelmarva@mac.com

The Very Rev. Canon Lawrence H. Hill, Canon to the Ordinary

11021 Worcester Highway
Berlin, MD 21811
Phone 410-641-4882
Fax 410-641-4957
deanlh@comcast.net

Mr. William J. Smith, Chancellor

914 Winding Way
Salisbury, MD 210804
Phone 410-677-3698
wjsjr914@verizon.net

I. PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS AND INTEGRITY IN MINISTRY: CODE OF ETHICS

Relationships among people are a foundation of Christian ministry and are central to Christian life. Defining healthy and safe relationships is not meant, in any way, to undermine the strength and importance of personal contact or the ministerial role. Rather, it is to assist all who fulfill the many roles that create the living Church to demonstrate their love and compassion for children and adults in the most sincere and genuine relationships.

It is with the intention that relationships in ministry be experienced at all times as charitable and without intention to do harm or allow harm to occur, that the following Code of Ethics has been adopted by the Missionary Diocese of All Saints. All Church personnel are asked to carefully consider each standard in the Code and within the Policies on Ethics and Integrity in Ministry before agreeing to adhere to the standards and continue in service to the Diocese.

- Church personnel shall exhibit the highest Christian ethical standards and personal integrity.
- Church personnel shall conduct themselves in a manner that is consistent with the discipline and teachings of the Church.
- Church personnel shall provide a professional work environment that is free from harassment.
- Church personnel shall not take advantage of a counseling, supervisory and/or authoritative relationship for their own benefit.
- Church personnel shall not abuse or neglect a minor or an adult.
- Church personnel shall share concerns about suspicious or inappropriate behavior first with their rector/vicar, with Bishop, the Suffragan Bishop, or with the Chancellor of the diocese.
- Church personnel shall adhere to the requirements of the applicable state laws regarding the reporting of any suspected abuse of a minor.
- Church personnel shall accept their personal responsibility in the protection of minors and adults from all forms of abuse.

II. GENERAL DEFINITIONS

A. Church Personnel

For the purposes of this policy, the following are included in the definition of Church personnel:

1. Priests and Deacons (Clergy)
 - a. Clergy canonically resident in the Missionary Diocese of All Saints
 - b. Clergy who are members of religious institutes or in other forms of consecrated life, and who are assigned to pastoral work in the Diocese or who are otherwise

engaged in the care of souls, the public exercise of divine worship, and other works of the apostolate.

- c. Clergy of other jurisdictions who are assigned to pastoral work in this Diocese, whether seeking canonical residency within the Diocese or not.
 - d. Clergy who are otherwise legitimately residing within the territory of the Diocese, including retired clerics and those engaged in part-time or supply ministry.
 - e. In addition to the provisions of these Policies, the above mentioned clergy are also bound by the Constitution and Canons of the Missionary Diocese of All Saints.
 - f. Allegations of Misconduct Against a Priest (Appendix E)
2. Seminarians and Religious Orders
- a. All seminarians legitimately enrolled in the seminary program of the Diocese and those who are in process including aspirants, postulants and candidates to the priesthood.
 - b. Those who are enrolled in the permanent diaconate formation program.
 - c. Any members of religious orders working within the Diocese.
3. The Laity
- a. All paid personnel whether employed in areas of ministry or other kinds of services by the Diocese, its parishes, missions and schools.
 - b. All volunteers. This includes any person who enters into or offers himself/herself for a Church related service of his/her own free will.
4. Service Contractors
- a. Any organization or individual under contract to the Diocese, its parishes, missions, schools or agencies who work around children or youth.

B. Types of Misconduct (*see also Appendix A*)

For the purpose of this policy, misconduct includes the four types of behavior listed below:

- 1. Immoral conduct: Conduct that is contrary to the discipline and teachings of the Church and which may result in scandal to the faithful or harm to the ministry of the Church.
- 2. The illegitimate and offensive use of power where the purpose or the effect is to create a hostile or intimidating work environment.

3. Exploitation: Taking advantage of a pastoral counseling relationship for the benefit of the pastoral counselor.
4. Abuse of minors: Physical, sexual or emotional abuse of children under the age of 18, or adults who are uniquely vulnerable to abuse of physical or mental disabilities.

The definition of abuse of minors is further defined in the policy for Protection of Children and Youth in Section VI.

III. PREVENTION OF IMMORAL CONDUCT: GUIDELINES FOR ETHICAL BEHAVIOR

A. Definitions

1. Immoral conduct is conduct contrary to the discipline and teachings of the Church and may result in scandal to the faithful or harm to the ministry of the Church.

B. Standards of the Diocese as to Prevention of Immoral Conduct

1. Church personnel enjoy a public trust and confidence. It is essential that Church personnel view their own actions and intentions objectively to assure that no observer would have grounds to believe that irregularity in conduct exists. All Church personnel have a responsibility to strive to uphold the standards of the Church in their day-to-day work and personal lives.
2. Further, it is fundamental to the mission of the Diocese, that Church personnel exhibit the highest ethical standards and personal integrity. The purpose of this policy is to insure that all Church personnel follow the ethical standards of the Church. Therefore, Church personnel are prohibited from engaging in the following conduct:
 - a. Immoral conduct.
 - b. Actions that are disruptive to the ministry and public worship.
 - c. Possession or distribution of pornographic material.
 - d. Adultery, flagrant promiscuity or illicit co-habitation.
 - e. Abuse of alcohol, drugs or gambling
 - f. Stealing or any other form of theft, including misappropriation of Church funds.
 - g. Sexual harassment. Exploitation or abuse.
 - h. Physical assault and fighting.
3. Church personnel should not harm the reputation of others by:
 - a. Disclosing without legitimate cause the faults or failings of others to persons who have no cause to know them.
 - b. Making false allegations against another.

IV. Prevention of Harassment: Guidelines for Professionalism

A. Definitions

1. Harassment is an illegitimate and offensive use of power where the purpose or the effect is to create a hostile or intimidating work environment.
2. Harassment encompasses a broad range of physical, psychological, written, or verbal behavior that includes, but is not limited to, the following:
 - Physical or mental abuse;
 - Racial insults;
 - Derogatory ethnic slurs;
 - Unwelcome sexual advances or touching;
 - Sexual comments or sexual jokes;
 - Requests for sexual favors as a condition of employment, or to affect other personnel decisions, such as promotion or compensation
 - Display of offensive materials;
 - Intimidation.
3. Harassment may be severe and/or pervasive.
 - a. Severe conduct is sufficient to alter a workplace environment even though it may occur only once.
 - b. Pervasive conduct is a persistent pattern of harassment.

B. Standards of the Diocese as to Prevention of Harassment

1. Church personnel shall not engage in harassment and shall not tolerate harassment by other Church personnel.
2. Church personnel shall provide a professional work environment that is free from harassment.

V. PREVENTION OF EXPLOITATION: GUIDELINES FOR PASTORAL COUNSELING

A. Definitions

1. Pastoral counseling occurs when Church personnel offer spiritual direction or advice concerning moral or spiritual matters. The Church personnel may or may not be a certified spiritual director or trained, licensed or degreed in professional counseling. It is mandatory if there is a need for on-going counseling, that Church Personnel, not certified or licensed, refer the recipient to a Professional.
2. Exploitation occurs when Church personnel take advantage of the pastoral counseling relationship for the benefit of the pastoral counselor.

3. Sexual exploitation is sexual contact between Church personnel and the recipient of their pastoral counseling services, regardless of who initiates the contact.
4. A conflict of interest occurs when Church personnel take advantage of pastoral counseling relationships in order to further their own interest.

B. Standards of the Diocese in Prevention of Exploitation

1. Church personnel shall recognize their limitations in pastoral counseling situations. Those providing pastoral care should either have ongoing professional supervision or refer an individual to professional counseling after six sessions have been held. Fees or donations for pastoral care are prohibited; any person charging fees for counseling outside the scope of church employment must possess appropriate professional credentials and proof of separate professional liability insurance, including coverage for sexual misconduct, in force at all times. Persons practicing formal spiritual direction shall submit that ministry to peer or supervisory review with a spiritual advisor approved by the Bishop.
2. Church personnel shall not engage in exploitation, sexual exploitation, and/or sexual intimacies with persons whom they counsel. Church personnel are also prohibited from engaging in situations or conduct that can give the appearance of exploitation, sexual exploitation or sexual intimacies.
3. Church personnel shall not engage in exploitation, sexual exploitation, and/or sexual intimacies with relatives or friends of someone with whom they have a counseling relationship.
4. Church personnel shall set and maintain clear, appropriate boundaries in all pastoral counseling relationships.
5. If physical contact is warranted for professional, clinical reasons, it should always be respectful and consistent with the intent to provide a safe and comfortable pastoral counseling environment.
6. Pastoral counseling should be conducted in appropriate settings at appropriate times and should not be held at places or times that would cause confusion about the nature of the relationship for the person being counseled. It is mandatory that in counseling situations, the line of sight rule is to be practiced.
7. No pastoral counseling should be conducted in private living quarters.

C. Standards of the Diocese as to Confidentiality

1. The sacramental seal is inviolable by divine mandate.
2. Information disclosed to Church personnel during the course of counseling, advising, or spiritual direction shall be held in the strictest confidence possible, with due regard

for the norm of civil and/or canon law.

3. Church personnel should discuss the nature of confidentiality, including its limitations, with each person who seeks pastoral counseling.
4. If there is clear and imminent danger, the Church personnel are to disclose the information necessary to protect the parties involved and to prevent harm.
5. If disclosure must be made, if feasible, the Church personnel should inform the person being counseled about the disclosure.
6. With the exception of knowledge gained in the Sacrament of Penance, knowledge that arises from professional contact may be used in teaching, delivering homilies, or other public presentations only when effective measures have been taken to absolutely safeguard both the individual's identity and the confidentiality of the disclosures. In the rare event that such disclosures are used, good pastoral judgment is of the utmost importance when making decisions about the use of information in public ministry.
7. If Church personnel discover, while counseling a minor, that there is a serious threat to the welfare of the minor and that communication of confidential information to a parent or legal guardian is essential to the child's health and well-being, the Church personnel must disclose to his/her supervisor or clergy the information necessary to protect the health and well-being of the minor.

D. Standards of the Diocese as to Conflicts of Interest

1. Church personnel shall observe clear, appropriate boundaries with anyone with whom they have a business, professional or social relationship.
2. Church personnel shall avoid pastoral counseling that might present a conflict of interest. Even the appearance of a conflict of interest can call into question integrity and professional conduct.
3. If a conflict of interest exists or arises, Church personnel should inform all parties. If there is any question of conflict of interest, the matter is to be referred to the office of the Canon of the Ordinary. Resolution of the issues must protect the person being counseled.

VI. POLICY FOR PROTECTION FOR CHILDREN AND YOUTH

Relationships among people are at the foundation of Christian ministry and as such are central to the life of the church. Defining healthy and safe relationships through policies and codes of conduct is not meant, in any way, to undermine the strength and importance of personal interaction in our ministries. Rather, it is to assist in more clearly defining behaviors and practices that allow the church to more fully demonstrate its love and compassion for children and youth in sincere and genuine relationships.

Relationships in ministry should, ideally, always be experienced as caring and without intention to do harm or allow harm to occur. This Policy has been adopted by the Missionary Diocese of All Saints to help the churches create safe environments for children and youth and for those who minister to them. All Church Personnel are asked to carefully consider each statement in the Policy within the *Policies for the Protection of Children and Youth from Abuse* before agreeing to adhere to the statements and continue in service to the church.

This Diocese, its congregations, and institutions prohibits interaction between children or youth and those with either a criminal record of child abuse or a mental health diagnosis of paraphilia (including pedophilia, exhibitionism, or voyeurism) as defined by the American Psychiatric Association, thus complying with state and insurance regulations.

Code of Conduct for Protection of Children and Youth (See Appendix A)

- Church Personnel agree to do their best to prevent abuse and neglect among children and youth involved in church activities and services.
- Church Personnel agree to not physically, sexually or emotionally abuse or neglect a child or youth.
- Church Personnel agree to comply with the policies for general conduct with children and youth as defined in these *Policies for the Protection of Children and Youth from Abuse*.
- All church personnel agree to comply with the *Guidelines for Appropriate Affection with Children and Youth*. In the event that Church Personnel observe any inappropriate behaviors or possible policy violations with children or youth, church personnel agree to immediately report their observations.
- All Church Personnel acknowledge their obligation and responsibility to protect children and youth and agree to report known or suspected abuse of children or youth to appropriate church leaders and state authorities in accordance with these policies.
- Church Personnel understand that the church will not tolerate abuse of children and youth and agree to comply in spirit and in action with this position.

A. General Definitions

1. Church Personnel For the purposes of this policy see pages 6 - 7 for those included in the definition of Church Personnel.
2. Children and Youth A child is defined as anyone under the age of 12 years. A youth is defined as anyone who is at least 12 years old, but not yet 18 years old.
3. Adult A person of 18 years or older.
4. Regularly or Occasionally Work With or Around Children or Youth
For the purpose of this policy, the following are included in

the definition of Church Personnel who Regularly Work With or Around Children or Youth:

- a. All clergy whether stipendiary, non-stipendiary, or otherwise who are engaged in ministry or service to the church.
- b. All paid or volunteer Church Personnel whose work regularly takes them throughout the facility or grounds or who has keys giving them access to the buildings on the grounds.
- c. All persons who supervise or assist with supervising children or youth, other than church school teachers, in ministries, programs or activities more often than occasionally.
- d. All persons who provide transportation to children or youth without other adults in the vehicle more often than occasionally.
- e. Any paid personnel whose living quarters are on the grounds of the church, school or other related agency.
- f. Any vestry members or other members of similar decision making groups who have the authority to approve the creation of ministries, programs or activities for children or youth.

Examples of Church Personnel who *Regularly* Work With or Around Children or Youth: include, but are not limited to:

- Children's or youth choir directors
- Organists who work with children or youth
- Lay youth ministers
- Church School teachers
- Volunteer youth directors
- All Church Personnel who work or assist in the nursery more than four times a year (either volunteer or paid)
- All Church Personnel who work in the nursery if they are the only person over 18 present at any time
- All staff, whether volunteer or paid, at church camps
- Adults who participate in overnight activities with children or youth more than twice a year
- All volunteers who work or assist in Vacation Church School

For the purpose of this policy, the following are included in the definition of Church Personnel who *Occasionally* work with or around children or youth:

- All persons who supervise or assist with supervising children or youth in ministries, programs or activities infrequently, generally no more than three times year or for one program or activity during a year totaling 10 days. (i.e., assisting with preparation for the Christmas pageant, or teaching one "unit" of Church School for a month).
- All persons who provide transportation to children or youth without other adults in the vehicle infrequently, generally no

more than three times a year.

- All persons who work or assist in the nursery four or fewer times a year, whether on an emergency basis or otherwise.
- Adults who participate in overnight activities with children.

5. Types of Abuse

- a. **Physical abuse** is non-accidental injury, which is intentionally inflicted upon a child or youth.
- b. **Sexual abuse perpetrated by an adult** is any contact or activity of a sexual nature that occurs between a child or youth and an adult. This includes any activity, which is meant to arouse or gratify the sexual desires of the adult.
- c. **Sexual abuse perpetrated by another child or youth** is any contact or activity of a sexual nature that occurs between a child or youth and another child or youth when there is no consent, when consent is not possible, or when one child or youth has power over the other child or youth. This includes any activity which is meant to arouse or gratify the sexual desires of any of the children or youth.
- d. **Emotional abuse** is mental or emotional injury to a child or youth that results in an observable and material impairment in the child or youth's growth, development or psychological functioning.
- e. **Neglect** is the failure to provide for a child or youth's basic needs or the failure to protect a child or youth from harm.
- f. **Economic exploitation** is the deliberate misplacement, exploitation, or wrongful temporary or permanent use of a child or youth's belongings or money.

B. Safeguards for Children and Youth

1. Screening and Selection

- a. Any and all Church Personnel who regularly work with or around children or youth shall be screened and selected utilizing at least the following:
 - (1) A standard application completed by the applicant that includes an authorization for the release of information to conduct background checks and the Code of Conduct (Appendix D).
 - (2) Criminal records check in any state where the applicant has resided during the past seven (7) years, and other states, if any, as determined by the church. A Standard Records Check procedure is found in (Appendix F).
 - (3) Sexual offender registry check in any state where the applicant has resided during the past seven (7) years.
 - (4) Individual interview with the applicant.
 - (5) Reference checks of persons outside the congregation who know the applicant, preferably who know how the applicant works with children.
 - (6) Driving or Motor Vehicle records check if the person may be transporting children or youth.
- b. Any and all Church personnel who work with or around Children or Youth shall be screened and selected utilizing at least the following:
 - (1) A standard application completed by the applicant that includes an acknowledgment for the release of information to conduct background checks and the Code of Conduct (Appendix D).

- (2) At least one Reference Check of a person or persons outside the congregation who know the applicant, preferably who know how the applicant interacts with children.
 - (3) Sexual Offender Registry Check
 - (4) Driving or Motor Vehicle records check if the person will be transporting children or youth.
- c. All information gathered about an applicant will be carefully reviewed and evaluated to make a determination, in consultation with others as necessary, of whether or not the person is appropriate to work with children or youth.
 - d. Church Personnel who work with or around children or youth must have a personnel file that is kept where other church records are kept.
 - e. Criminal records checks and sexual offender registry checks will be conducted every three (3) years for church personnel who work with or around children or youth.
 - f. Sexual Registry checks for people who occasionally work around children and youth.
 - g. Church Personnel who transfer within the Missionary Diocese of All Saints and apply for or are asked to or who do undertake a position working with or around children or youth are required to undergo the same screening and selection process in Section A above. This requirement may be met through a transfer of a copy of their screening records to the new congregation, school, agency, or program together with completion of a new application, individual interview and reference checks with the congregations, schools, agencies or other programs for which the applicant has worked with or around children or youth since the screening was last done as shown in the applicant's screening records.
 - h. Service Contractors are required to provide verification of screening, training and compliance in regard to proper sexual conduct.
2. Education and Training Requirements
- a. Child abuse prevention education and training is required for all Church Personnel who regularly work with or around children or youth before they start their work with children or youth.
3. Monitoring and Supervision of Programs

The monitoring and supervision of programs and activities involving children or youth is important for safeguarding children and youth and involves several aspects. One aspect involves having structural guidelines or standards for the programs and activities for children and youth. These include such things as who approves new programs, how many adults need to be present and the like. In addition to setting structural guidelines and standards, church leaders must make sure the structural safeguards are followed. Programs and activities have to be monitored and supervised to do that.

Another aspect of monitoring and supervision is that supervisory personnel and others monitor and supervise the behavior of adults, youth and other children with children and youth so that inappropriate behaviors and interactions can be

detected and stopped. Some behaviors and interactions are potentially harmful to children or youth in and of themselves. Examples include providing alcohol or drugs to children or youth or actually having sexual contact with a child or youth. Other behaviors and interactions are not necessarily harmful in and of themselves but are the same behaviors and interactions known to be used by those who abuse children or youth to “groom” them or their parents for eventual abuse or which provide the privacy child molesters need in order to abuse children or youth. Examples of those behaviors and interactions include holding children over the age of three on the lap, transporting a child or youth alone, and the like. The structural guidelines and standards are covered in both this Monitoring and Supervision section and in the following section, General Conduct for the Protection of Children and Youth. The behaviors and interactions of persons with children and youth that need to be monitored and supervised are covered in the section on General Conduct for the Protection of Children and Youth and in the Guidelines for Appropriate Affection.

- a. Every program for children and youth is encouraged to have a minimum of two adults with a ratio of one additional adult for every ten youth.
 - b. Church Personnel are prohibited from being alone with a child or youth or multiple children or youth where other adults cannot easily observe them.
 - c. An up to date list of approved congregation-sponsored programs for children and youth will be maintained in the church office or other place where church records are kept.
 - d. Church Personnel are not permitted to develop new activities for children and youth without approval from the rector or canonical equivalent. Requests to develop new activities should be submitted in writing to the rector. The rector will consider whether the plan for a new activity includes adequate adult supervision.
 - e. Each program will develop age-appropriate procedures to ensure the safety of children and youth using restrooms and showers or baths.
 - f. When supervising or assisting private activities such as dressing, showering or diapering infants or children, Church Personnel will remain in an area observable by other adults or work in pairs.
 - g. At least two Church Personnel must supervise activities. When both boys and girls are participating, male and female adults must supervise.
4. General Conduct for the Protection of Children and Youth
- The following guidelines are intended to assist Church Personnel in monitoring and supervising behaviors and interactions with children and youth to identify and stop those that may be inherently harmful to children or youth, that are the type used by child molesters to groom children, youth and their parents, or that may create the conditions where abuse can occur more easily. These guidelines should also be used to make decisions about interactions with children and youth in church sponsored and affiliated programs. They are not designed or intended to address interactions within families. When exceptions to these guidelines must be made, they should be reported to the supervisor of the Church Personnel making the exception as soon as possible.

- a. All Church Personnel who work with children or youth must agree to comply with the Missionary Diocese of All Saints Guidelines for Appropriate Affection (Appendix A).
- b. No person will be allowed to volunteer to regularly work with children or youth until the person has been known to the clergy and congregation for at least three months.
- c. Programs for infants and children under six (6) years old will have procedures to ensure that children are released only to their parents or legal guardians or those designated by them.
- d. Church Personnel are prohibited from the use, possession, distribution, or being under the influence of alcohol, illegal drugs, or the misuse of legal drugs while participating in or assisting with programs or activities specifically for children or youth.
- e. Parents or guardians must complete written permission forms before Church Personnel transport children and youth for a church sponsored activity or for any purpose on more than an occasional basis.
- f. Church Personnel will respond to children and youth with respect, consideration and equal treatment, regardless of sex, race, religion, sexual orientation, culture or socioeconomic status. Church Personnel will portray a positive role model for children and youth by maintaining an attitude of respect, patience, and maturity. They will avoid even the appearance of favoritism.
- g. One-to-one counseling with children or youth will be done in an open or public or other place where private conversations are possible but occur in full view of others.
- h. No dating relationships will take place between those who minister with youth and those they supervise at any time. Such a relationship blurs the ministry being performed, and is easily and predictably misunderstood. Supervisors and ministers who violate this policy will be immediately and permanently removed from their supervisory and ministerial position.
- i. Church Personnel are prohibited from having sexual contact with a child or youth.
- j. Church Personnel are prohibited from possessing any sexually orientated materials (magazines, cards, videos, films, clothing, etc.) on church property or in the presence of children or youth except as expressly permitted as part of a pre-authorized educational program.
- k. Church Personnel are prohibited from using the Internet to view or download any sexually oriented materials on church property or in the presence of children or youth.
- l. Church Personnel are prohibited from discussing their own sexual activities, including dreams and fantasies, or discussing their use of sexually oriented or explicit materials such as pornography, videos or materials on or from the Internet, with children or youth.
- m. Church Personnel are **required** to remain in a common sleeping area with children and youth in order to provide immediate adult supervision.
 - (1) When common sleeping areas are used at least two adult sponsors of the same gender will be assigned to reside in the sleeping area. When boys and girls sleep in a common area together, adults of each gender must be present.
 - (2) The assignment of these adult sponsors for this duty will be given by the chief

sponsor on any given event.

- (3) Church Personnel are prohibited from sleeping in the same beds, sleeping bags, tents or any similar place with children or youth unless the adult is an immediate family member of the child or youth.
- n. Church Personnel are prohibited from dressing, undressing, bathing, or showering in the presence of children or youth.
- o. Church Personnel are prohibited from using physical punishment in any way for behavior management of children and youth. No form of physical discipline is acceptable. This prohibition includes spanking, slapping, pinching, hitting, or any other physical force. Physical force may only be used to stop a behavior that may cause immediate harm to the individual or to a child, youth or others.
- p. Church Personnel are prohibited from using harsh language, improper punishment, or mechanical restraint such as rope or tape for behavior management.
- q. Church Personnel are prohibited from participating in or allowing others to conduct any hazing activities relating to children's or youth ministry or camp activities.

VII. RESPONDING TO PROBLEMS

A. Reporting Inappropriate Behaviors or Policy Violations with Children or Youth

1. When Church Personnel observe any inappropriate behaviors, behaviors that are inconsistent with the Guidelines for Appropriate Affection, or which may violate any provision of these *Policies the for Protection of Children and Youth from Abuse*, they must immediately report their observations. Examples of inappropriate behaviors or policy violations (but not limited to the following) would be: seeking private time with children or youth, taking children or youth on over-night trips without other adults, swearing or making suggestive comments to children or youth, or selecting or using staff or volunteers without the required screening.
2. Such inappropriate behaviors or possible policy violations that relate to interactions with children or youth should be reported in one of the following ways:
 - a. A telephone call or meeting with the immediate supervisor of the person;
 - b. A telephone call or meeting with the rector/vicar if the person is not the rector/vicar;
 - c. A telephone call or meeting with a church warden if the person is the rector/vicar;
 - d. A telephone call, meeting or fax to the bishop;
 - e. Submit a *Notice of Concern* (Appendix B), signed or unsigned, to the bishop.
3. All reports of inappropriate behavior or policy violations with children or youth will be taken seriously.

B. Reporting Suspected Abuse of Children or Youth

1. All Church Personnel are required by this policy to report known or suspected abuse of children or youth to the appropriate state authorities. (See Appendix C)

2. Failure to report suspected abuse of children or youth may be a crime. Reports may be made confidentially or anonymously. Every state provides immunity from civil liability for persons required to report suspected abuse in good faith and without malice. Simply stated, “in good faith” means that the person submitting the report believes what he or she is reporting to be true.
3. In addition to reporting to the state authorities, Church Personnel are required to report any suspected or known abuse of children or youth that may have been perpetrated by Church Personnel directly to the rector/vicar of your Parish so that immediate and proper steps may be taken to ensure the safety of alleged victims.
4. Reports of suspected or known abuse that involve Church Personnel should be reported to the Missionary Diocese of All Saints in one of the following ways:
 - a. A telephone call, meeting or fax to the bishop, or his appointee.
 - b. Submit a *Notice of Concern* (Appendix B), signed or unsigned, to the bishop or his appointee.
5. The Missionary Diocese of All Saints and your Parish will cooperate with any investigation by state authorities to the fullest extent appropriate and inform authorities that a concurrent internal investigation will be directed by the Missionary Diocese of All Saints.

Appendix A

Standards for Appropriate Affection

The Missionary Diocese of All Saints and its Parishes are committed to creating and promoting a positive, nurturing environment for our children's and youth ministries that protect our children and youth from abuse and our Church Personnel from misunderstandings. When creating safe boundaries for children and youth, it is important to establish what types of affection are appropriate and inappropriate, otherwise that decision is left to each individual. Stating which behaviors are appropriate and inappropriate allows Church Personnel to comfortably show positive affection in ministry, and yet identify individuals who are not maintaining safe boundaries with children or youth. These Standards are based, in large part, on avoiding behaviors known to be used by child molesters to groom children or youth and their parents for future abuse. The following Standards are to be carefully followed by all Church Personnel working around or with children or youth.

1. Love and affection are part of church life and ministry. There are many ways to demonstrate affection while maintaining positive and safe boundaries with children and youth.

Some positive and appropriate forms of affection are listed below:

- Asking permission before touching
 - Pats on the shoulder or back.
 - Handshakes.
 - "High-fives" and hand slapping.
 - Verbal praise.
 - Touching hands, faces, shoulders and arms of children or youth
 - Arms around shoulders.
 - Holding hands while walking with small children.
 - Sitting beside small children.
 - Kneeling or bending down for hugs with small children.
 - Holding hands during prayer.
 - Pats on the head when culturally appropriate. (For example, this gesture should typically be avoided in some Asian communities).
2. The following forms of affection are considered inappropriate with children and youth in ministry setting because many of them are the behaviors that child molesters use to groom children or youth and their parents for later molestation or can be, in and of themselves, sexual abuse.
 - Inappropriate or lengthy embraces.
 - Kisses on the mouth.
 - Holding children over three years old on the lap.
 - Touching bottoms, chests or genital areas other than for appropriate diapering or toileting of infants and toddlers.
 - Showing affection in isolated areas such as bedrooms, closets, staff only

areas or other private rooms.

- Occupying a bed with a child or youth
- Touching knees or legs of children or youth.
- Wrestling with children or youth.
- Tickling children or youth.
- Piggyback rides.
- Any type of massage
- Any form of unwanted affection.
- Comments or compliments (spoken, written, or electronic) that relate to physique or body development. Examples would be, “You sure are developing,” or “You look really hot in those jeans.”
- Snapping bras or giving wedgies or similar touch of underwear whether or not it is covered by other clothing.
- Giving gifts or money to individual children or youth.
- Private meals with individual children or youth
- Touching or hugging from behind
- Games involved in inappropriate touching

A. Behavior Standards:

1. Any verbal or nonverbal sexual behavior with any child, youth or vulnerable adult is inappropriate and forbidden.
 - Never allow children, youth or vulnerable adults to become sexual with one another during ministry activities.
 - Sexual gestures or overtures a child, youth or vulnerable adult makes to a minister should be reported to the supervisor and the parent/guardian so that discussion can be held with the child, youth or vulnerable adult.
2. Dating, going out with, or becoming romantically involved with any child, youth, or vulnerable adult is forbidden.
3. Discretion must be used in dealing with all, especially regarding physical contact. Any overt display of affection should be made in a public setting in front of other group members and should respect wishes of the other person.
4. Multiple adults must be used by Church Personnel whenever possible, but especially when children, youth or vulnerable adults are involved.
 - *Never* be alone with a child or youth or multiple children or youth where others cannot easily observe the program or activity.
 - One-to-one counseling with a child, youth or vulnerable adult should always occur in a public place, never alone in a car or a private place.
 - Never invite or host children, youth or vulnerable adults in your home unless another unrelated adult is present.
5. Parents/Guardians must complete written permission forms before transporting children

and youth for a church sponsored activity.

- Driving *alone* with a child, youth or vulnerable adult should be avoided at all times.
 - However, if riding or driving alone with a child, youth or vulnerable adult cannot be avoided, special care should be taken:
 - Don't sit close to one another in the car.
 - Do not come into physical contact with each other.
 - Do not stop the car to talk.
 - If you must stop, turn on the inside light of the car.
 - Avoid physical contact (hugs and kisses) when saying goodbye.
 - Be aware of the time you depart and arrive. Mark those times in your diary or record.
6. Never swear or use foul or abusive language in the presence of those you serve in ministry.
 7. Never use your role to degrade, ridicule, threaten or humiliate another person.
 8. Never speak graphically about sexual activities, including your own and do not allow others to do so. This includes dreams and fantasies or the use of sexually oriented materials such as pornography, videos, or materials on or from the Internet.
 9. Never show sexually oriented or pornographic materials to those you serve in ministry. (such as magazines, cards, videos, films, DVD's, clothing etc.)
 10. Never use the Internet to view or download any sexually oriented materials on church property or in the presence of children and youth.
 11. Never spank, shake, slap or physically punish children, youth or vulnerable adults.
 12. Never wrestle with or tickle a child, youth or vulnerable adult
 13. Never give tobacco, alcohol or unauthorized drugs to children, youth or vulnerable adults.
 14. Never use, possess or be under the influence of alcohol at any time while ministering to children, youth or vulnerable adults.
 15. Never use, possess or be under the influence of illegal drugs at any time.
 16. Never use tobacco products while in the presence or children or youth.
 17. When Church Personnel experiences romantic or sexual attraction for a child, youth or vulnerable adult, the minister is required to discuss the situation with the supervisor or spiritual director for guidance.
 18. All suspicions of child sexual abuse must be reported as required by state law and

diocesan policies. Any knowledge or suspicion of any minister having an inappropriate relationship with a child, youth or vulnerable adult must be reported promptly to that person's supervisor.

19. Standards for communication or conduct of relationships apply to electronic media including Internet access, email, chat rooms, phone conversations, photos and pictures.

B. Behaviors to Avoid:

- Meeting alone in isolated places.
- Showing favoritism.
- Physical contact that can be misinterpreted.
- Provocative or revealing attire.
- Meeting in homes and in bedrooms without others present.
- Being nude in front of children, youth or vulnerable adults.
- Sleeping in bed with children, youth or vulnerable adults
- Special gift giving.
- Discussing your own dating activities, sexual activities or encouraging others to do so.
- Keeping "secrets" about relationships.
- Failing to adhere to uniform or accepted standards of affection.
- Showing affection when no one else is around.
- Staring while others are dressing.
- Commenting on others' bodies.
- Taking pictures while others are dressing or showering.
- Shaming or belittling an individual.

Appendix B

Confidential Notice of Concern

Individual(s) of Concern: _____

Date of occurrence: _____

Time of occurrence: _____

Type of Concern:

- Inappropriate behavior with a child or youth
- Policy violation with a child or youth
- Possible risk of abuse
- Other concern:

Describe the situation: What happened, where it happened when it happened, who was involved, who was present, who was notified? If reported to the State, what was their recommendation about investigating? (Attach additional sheets if needed).

Has this situation ever occurred previously? (Attach additional sheets if needed).

What action was taken? How was the situation handled, who was involved, who was questioned, were police called? (Attach additional sheets if needed).

What is the follow-up plan? Does anyone else need to be notified? Will the situation need monitoring? Would you like someone to call you to discuss this situation? (Attach additional sheets if needed).

Submitted by: *(Please print)*

Telephone number:

Location and address:

Signature: _____

Reviewed by: _____

**Once completed, please mail to the Office of the Bishop*

Appendix C

Reporting Child Abuse or Neglect

It is incumbent upon each clergyman and lay leader to be familiar with the applicable state laws in regards to reporting child abuse or neglect. Such laws may be found on state government websites or may be searched here: http://www.childwelfare.gov/systemwide/laws_policies/state/.

Appendix D

Sample Application Form, Code of Conduct, and Acknowledgment, Release and Signature

Instructions *Please complete all of the questions accurately and fully
Attach additional sheets if needed.*

Today's date:

Personal data

Name:

Street address:

State: Zip: _____

How long at current address: _____

Home phone: _ () _____

Work phone: _____

Best time to contact you: _____

Email address: _____

Driver license number: STATE:

Social Security number:

Are you legally eligible to work in this country?

Yes No

Note: If you are chosen for a paid position, you will be required to show documents verifying your employment eligibility and identity to complete the INS Form 1-9 as required by the Immigration Reform and Control Act.

Please list your addresses in the past five years:

For what position are you applying?

What interests you about the position for which you are currently applying?

What has prepared you for the position for which you are currently applying?

Employment history (*Please complete for your prior employers, covering the past ten years*).

Current employer	Company name: _____ Address: _____ City: State: Zip: _____ Immediate supervisor name: _____ Immediate supervisor phone number: _____ Position held: _____ Dates of employment: from: _____ to: _____ Reason for leaving position: _____
Previous employer	Company name: _____ Address: _____ City: State: Zip: _____ Immediate supervisor name: _____ Immediate supervisor phone number: _____ Position held: _____ Dates of employment: from: _____ to: _____ Reason for leaving position: _____
Previous employer	Company name: _____ Address: _____ City: State: Zip: _____ Immediate supervisor name: _____ Immediate supervisor phone number: _____ Position held: _____ Dates of employment: from: _____ to: _____ Reason for leaving position: _____
Previous employer	Company name: _____ Address: _____ City: State: Zip: _____ Immediate supervisor name: _____ Immediate supervisor phone number: _____ Position held: _____ Dates of employment: from: _____ to: _____ Reason for leaving position: _____
Previous employer	Company name: _____ Address: _____ City: State: Zip: _____ Immediate supervisor name: _____ Immediate supervisor phone number: _____ Position held: _____ Dates of employment: from: _____ to: _____ Reason for leaving position: _____
Volunteer experience (<i>Include all experience working with children or youth</i>)	Organization: _____ Contact: _____ Phone: _____ Duties: _____ Dates: from: _____ to: _____ Reason for Leaving: _____

	Organization: _____
	Contact: _____
	Phone: _____
	Duties: _____
	Dates: from: _____ to: _____
	Reason for Leaving: _____
Educational history	Name of school: _____
	Address: _____
	City State Zip: _____
	Type of school: _____
	Name of program or degree: _____
	Program completed? _____
	Name of school: _____
	Address: _____
	City State Zip: _____
	Type of school: _____
	Name of program or degree: _____
	Program completed? _____
	Name of school: _____
	Address: _____
	City State Zip: _____
	Type of school: _____
	Name of program or degree: _____
	Program completed? _____
Professional/Civic References	Name: _____
	Address: _____
	City State Zip: _____
	Daytime phone: _____
	How long have you known this person? _____
	Relationship to you: _____
	Name: _____
	Address: _____
	City State Zip: _____
	Daytime phone: _____
	How long have you known this person? _____
	Relationship to you: _____
Personal References	Name: _____
	Address: _____
	City State Zip: _____
	Daytime phone: _____
	How long have you known this person? _____
	Relationship to you: _____
	Name: _____
	Address: _____
	City State Zip: _____
	Daytime phone: _____
	How long have you known this person? _____
	Relationship to you: _____

Family references Name: _____
 Address: _____
 City State Zip: _____
 Daytime phone: _____
 How long have you known this person? _____
 Relationship to you: _____

Have you ever been accused of physically, sexually or emotionally abusing a child or an adult?
 Yes No If yes, please explain.

Code of Conduct for the Protection of Children and Youth

Read and initial each item to signify your agreement to comply with the statement.

_____ I agree to do my best to prevent abuse and neglect among children and youth involved in church activities and services.

_____ I agree not to physically sexually or emotionally abuse or neglect a child or youth.

I agree to comply with the Policy for General Conduct for the Protection of Children and Youth defined in the Policies for the Protection of Children and Youth from Abuse.

I agree to comply with the Standards for Appropriate Affection with children and youth.

In the event that I observe any inappropriate behaviors or possible policy violations with children or youth, I agree to immediately report my observations.

_____ I acknowledge my obligation and responsibility to protect children and youth and agree to report known or suspected abuse of children or youth to appropriate church leaders and state authorities in accordance with the *Policies for the Protection of Children and Youth from Abuse*.

I understand that the church will not tolerate abuse of children and youth and I agree to comply in spirit and in action with this position.

Acknowledgment, Release and Signature

To the best of my knowledge, the information contained in this application is complete and accurate. I understand that providing false information is grounds for not hiring me or choosing me for a volunteer position or for my discharge if I have already been hired or chosen.

I authorize any person or organization, whether or not identified in this application, to provide any information concerning my previous employment, education, credit history, driving record, criminal conviction record, sexual offender registry or other qualifications for my employment or volunteering. I also authorize the Missionary Diocese of All Saints [Parish] to request and receive such information.

If hired or chosen, I agree to be bound by the Missionary Diocese of All Saints [Parish's] policies and procedures, including but not limited to its *Policies for the Protection of Children and Youth from Abuse* and Code of Conduct for the Protection of Children and Youth. I understand that these may be changed, withdrawn, added to or interpreted at any time at the Diocese's [Parish's] sole discretion and without prior notice to me. I also understand that my employment or volunteering may be terminated, or any offer or acceptance of employment or volunteering withdrawn, at any time, with or without cause, and with or without prior notice at the option of the Missionary Diocese of All Saints [Parish] or myself.

Nothing contained in this application or in any preemployment or pre-volunteering communication is intended to or creates a contract between myself and Missionary Diocese of All Saints [Parish] for either employment, volunteering or the providing of any benefit.

I have read and understand the above provisions.

Signature: _____

Date: _____

Appendix E

RESPONSE PROCEDURES FOR A COMPLAINT

Before a complaint is received:

The Bishop will appoint members of the laity and clergy to serve on Response Teams.

The Bishop will choose more than are necessary for one Response Team. It should include at least one woman and one man; at least one lay person, and normally might include a cleric, an attorney and a mental health professional. From this membership will be appointed a Chair, a Complainant's Advocate, an Accused's Advocate and a Congregational Advocate. Before serving on a Response Team, members will receive training in crisis intervention and interviewing alleged offender, complainants, and witnesses. Training and ongoing supervision of Response Team members will be under the direction of a person skilled in these areas appointed by The Bishop.

In selecting persons to serve on a Response Team, the Bishop will take care not to assign any person whose judgment or objectivity might be impaired because of a relationship with, or knowledge of, any parties or witnesses to a complaint. If any member of a Response Team at any time has a potential conflict (as above), the person will disqualify herself or himself for this investigation.

Explanation of Duties of Advocates:

◆ *The Complainant Advocate is responsible for interviewing the complainant, producing a report, functioning as the primary liaison between the Bishop and the complainant, and ensuring proper pastoral care is evident.*

◆ *The Accused's Advocate is responsible for interviewing the alleged offender, producing a report, functioning as the primary liaison between the Bishop and the alleged offender, and ensuring proper pastoral care is evident.*

◆ *The Congregational Advocate is responsible for interviewing the congregation, if needed, assisting the wardens and vestry during the investigation, functioning as a liaison between the Bishop and the congregation, ensuring information on the process is available, and assuring that proper aftercare is delivered to the affected congregation or community.*

Following the receipt of a complaint:

1. The bishop will respond to requests for meetings with him as soon as possible. The bishop will meet with the party making the allegation and hear the specifics raised. At the bishop's discretion, such meetings may involve other staff members or consultants. An investigation cannot proceed unless a complainant is willing to drop conditions of anonymity for reporting purposes.

If the Bishop is unavailable, then a person designated by the Bishop will begin the interview

process.

If the complaint alleges sexual misconduct by the Bishop, the Standing Committee will perform the functions assigned to the Bishop by this policy.

2. If the complainant is not the alleged victim, the Bishop will meet with the complainant as well as the alleged victim. At the bishop's discretion, such meetings may involve other staff members or consultants.
3. The bishop will meet with the alleged offender as soon as possible. He will outline the allegations and hear all responses given. Such meeting may include other persons at the invitation of either the bishop or the alleged offender.
4. If the complaint alleges sexual abuse of a minor or an incompetent adult, the Bishop will in consultation with the Diocesan Chancellor, notify the relevant law enforcement authorities. The Bishop and any other church officials or employees with knowledge of the alleged abuse will be guided by the progress of the law enforcement investigation.
5. The Bishop will name the Response Team, if further investigation is deemed necessary.
6. The Complainant's Advocate, working with the alleged victim (if not the complainant) and/or the complainant, should draft a written statement which includes the date(s), location(s), time(s), the name of the alleged offender, and a description of the alleged offense(s); as well as the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of any witnesses if known. The statement is based upon the facts supplied by the person making the complaint. The accused's Advocate will work with the alleged offender to prepare a written statement. If the Bishop deems necessary, the Congregational Advocate will work with the congregation to prepare a statement.
 - ◆ *It is intended that the Advocates will be the main point of contact during the investigation of the charges. This will help protect the alleged victims and other involved parties.*
 - ◆ *The Response Team will keep the Bishop informed of progress and findings during the investigation, and will move as swiftly as possible towards completion of a final report and recommendations to the Bishop. The final report can include the original written statement of the complainant and/or victim and all written statements submitted by other persons, as well as a plan for congregational aftercare.*
7. The Bishop should arrange for an evaluation of the alleged offender by a licensed mental health care professional qualified and experienced in the evaluation of sexual misconduct. This evaluation shall be arranged as soon as possible. The Bishop will encourage the alleged offender to undergo the evaluation and to agree that the results of the evaluation will be available to the Bishop and the alleged offender.
8. The Bishop will not at any time following the making of the complaint hear the sacramental confession of the complainant, the alleged victim (if other than the complaining witness), or

the alleged offender. The Bishop may, if requested, recommend confessors.

9. Any party or witness to an alleged act of sexual misconduct may be asked to be interviewed or to submit a statement in writing.
10. After receiving the Response Team's recommendations and meeting with the Response Team, the Bishop will make a determination as to whether the complaint of sexual misconduct has been substantiated and, if so, the severity of the matter and what action, if any, is to be taken.

When a Determination is made:

The Bishop will inform the complainant, the alleged victim (if other than the complaining witness), and the alleged offender.

Unsubstantiated Complaints:

If the Bishop determines that the complaint is unsubstantiated, a written report to that effect will be placed in the Bishop's confidential file and a copy will also be given to the person accused. If the alleged offender is a cleric not canonically resident in this diocese, the Bishop should also transmit a copy of the report to the bishop of the diocese in which the cleric is canonically resident. The Bishop will also meet with the complainant to discuss the determination. He may meet with the alleged offender to discuss any steps that may be necessary to make known the determination.

Substantiated Complaints:

1. The Bishop will meet the complainant and/or victim to express the Church's deepest regret and to discuss appropriate responses by the Church to assist in healing. The complainant and/or victim may be accompanied by person(s) of their respective choosing. The Bishop, in consultation with others, will determine what assistance should be offered.

The Bishop may meet, if appropriate, with the victim's spouse and/or family to discuss how the church may assist them.

2. The Bishop may meet with the offender. Another person may accompany the offender if he or she desires. The Bishop will inform the offender regarding the actions the Bishop intends to take. Whenever an allegation of sexual misconduct in a current position is substantiated, the Bishop normally will act to remove the offender from all current positions of pastoral responsibility. When the allegation that is substantiated related to a previous context of ministry, the Bishop at his discretion may act to remove the offender from current positions. In the case of a cleric, the Bishop will also determine whether disciplinary action under Title IV of the Canons of the Anglican Church in North America is appropriate.

The Bishop may meet, if appropriate, with the offender's spouse and/or family to discuss how the Church may assist them.

In making any decisions about professional rehabilitation and future employment for the offender, the Bishop is guided by the assessments of those experts in the treatment of sexual misconduct who have treated or evaluated the offender. In most cases, significant involvement in personal psychotherapy and employment outside the Church will be required before any redeployment in the Church will be considered. At the Bishop's discretion, public acknowledgment of the misconduct, including exoneration of and restitution to the victim may be required. In no case will the victim be publicly identified without his or her consent.

3. The Bishop, and others at the discretion of the Bishop, will notify the wardens, if the offender serves a parish, or the appropriate representatives of the place of ministry, if the offender does not serve a parish, and discuss with them what assistance would be most helpful or healing.

◆ *The Bishop, Response Team members, and all other representatives of the Diocese will make every effort to protect the privacy of victims of sexual misconduct. All records of the investigations and determinations by the Bishop will be held in strict confidence and separate from ordinary personnel files except as specified in the procedures.*

◆ *All persons seeking positions of paid pastoral responsibility and all paid teachers, administrators, and faculty within the Diocese must undergo a background check utilizing appropriate procedures and forms. Similarly, all aspirants for Holy Orders, when required to undergo the pre-ordination psychological examination will also undergo a background check.*

Appendix F

Criminal Records Check Standard Procedure

The Diocese is happy to assist any congregation in locating a certified investigator/agency for assistance in these background checks.

The Diocese uses:

Oxford Document Management Company, Inc.
P.O. Box 307
655 West Highway 10
Anoka, MN 55303-1623

Phone: (763) 971-0124
(800) 801-9114
Fax: (763) 971-0126
(800) 951-9114

E-mail: info@oxforddoc.com
URL: www.oxforddoc.com

Appendix G

A. State Child Abuse Reporting Statute Websites

Alabama	www.dhr.alabama.gov/services/Child_Protective_Services/FAQs_CA.aspx
Alaska	www.hss.state.ak.us/ocs/ChildrensJustice/default.htm
Arizona	www.azdes.gov/main.aspx?menu=154&id=2030
Arkansas	www.arkansas.gov/reportARchildabuse/index.html
California	www.cdss.ca.gov/cdssweb/entres/forms/English/PUB132.pdf
Colorado	www.colorado.gov/cs/Satellite/CDHS-ChildYouthFam/CBON/1251579373436
Connecticut	www.ct.gov/DCF/cwp/view.asp?a=2556&q=314388
Delaware	kids.delaware.gov/fs/fs_iseethesigns.shtml
D.C.	cfsa.dc.gov/DC/CFSA/Support+the+Safety+Net/Report+Child+Abuse+and+Neglect
Florida	www.dcf.state.fl.us/programs/abuse/publications/mandatedreporters.pdf
Georgia	www.dfcs.dhr.georgia.gov/portal/site/DHS-DFCS/menuitem.5d32235bb09bde9a50c8798dd03036a0/?vgnnextoid=213a2b48d9a4ff00VgnVCM100000bf01010aRCRD
Hawaii	hawaii.gov/dhs/protection/social_services/child_welfare/MANDATED%20REPORTER%20HANDBOOK.pdf
Idaho	www.idahochild.org/preventing-abuse-and-neglect/
Illinois	www.dhs.state.il.us/page.aspx?item=20339
Indiana	www.in.gov/dcs/2971.htm
Iowa	www.dhs.state.ia.us/policyanalysis/PolicyManualPages/Manual_Documents/Master/comm164.pdf
Kansas	www.srs.ks.gov/agency/cfs/Documents/Child%20Abuse%20Reporting%20Guide.pdf
Kentucky	chfs.ky.gov/nr/rdonlyres/0984fd14-a494-4055-9c10-98cdd433f8c9/0/childabuseandneglectbooklet.pdf
Louisiana	dss.louisiana.gov/index.cfm?md=pagebuilder&tmp=home&pid=109
Maine	www.maine.gov/dhhs/ocfs/cw/reporting_abuse.shtml
Maryland	www.dhr.state.md.us/cps/report.php
Massachusetts	www.mass.gov/?pageID=eohhs2modulechunk&L=2&L0=Home&L1=Consumer&sid=Eeohhs2&b=terminalcontent&f=dss_c_can_reporting&csid=Eeohhs2
Michigan	www.michigan.gov/dhs/0,1607,7-124-5452_7119_44443---,00.html
Minnesota	www.dhs.state.mn.us/main/idcplg?IdcService=GET_DYNAMIC_CONVERSION&RevisionSelectionMethod=LatestReleased&dDocName=id_000152#P22_2334
Mississippi	www.mdhs.state.ms.us/fcs_prot.html
Missouri	www.dss.mo.gov/cd/can.htm
Montana	www.dphhs.mt.gov/cfsd/index.shtml
Nebraska	www.hhs.state.ne.us/cha/chaindex.htm

Nevada	www.dcf.state.nv.us/dcf_reportsuspectedchildabuse.htm
New Hampshire	www.dhhs.state.nh.us/dcyf/cps/stop.htm
New Jersey	www.state.nj.us/dcf/abuse/how/
New Mexico	www.cyfd.org/content/reporting-abuse-or-neglect
New York	www.ocfs.state.ny.us/main/cps/
North Dakota	www.nd.gov/dhs/services/childfamily/cps/#mandating
Ohio	codes.ohio.gov/orc/2151.421
Oklahoma	www.okdhs.org/programsandservices/cps/default.htm
Oregon	www.oregon.gov/DHS/children/abuse/cps/report.shtml
Pennsylvania	www.dpw.state.pa.us/provider/childwelfareservices/childlineandabuseregistry/index.htm
Puerto Rico	www.adfan.gobierno.pr/
Rhode Island	www.dcyf.ri.gov/child_welfare/index.php#reportabuse
South Carolina	dss.sc.gov/content/customers/protection/cps/index.aspx
South Dakota	dss.sd.gov/cps/protective/reporting.asp
Tennessee	www.tn.gov/youth/childsafety.htm
Texas	www.dfps.state.tx.us/contact_us/report_abuse.asp
Utah	www.hsdcs.utah.gov/ReportChildAbuse.htm
Vermont	dcf.vermont.gov/fsd/reporting_child_abuse
Virginia	www.dss.virginia.gov/family/cps/index2.cgi
Washington	www.dshs.wa.gov/ca/safety/abuseReport.asp?2
West Virginia	www.wvdhhr.org/bcf/children_adult/cps/report.asp
Wisconsin	dcf.wi.gov/children/cps/cpswimap.HTM
Wyoming	dfswb.state.wy.us/protective-services/MandatoryReporting.html

B: State Criminal Records and Sex Offenders Registry Information

	Alabama
Agency	Alabama Bureau of Investigation Identification Unit - Record Checks P. O. Box 1511 Montgomery, AL 36102-1511 (334) 353-1100 phone (334) 395-4350 fax jamespotts@gsiweb.net Website http://www.dps.state.al.us
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The online Sex Offender Registry is http://www.dps.state.al.us/Home/wfContent.aspx?ID=20&PLH1=plhAlerts-SexOffenders or (334)-242-4371
	Alaska
Agency	Department of Public Safety Records and Identification Bureau 5700 East Tudor Road Anchorage, AK 99507 (907) 269-5511 phone 1-800-658-8842 Email: dps.criminal.records@alaska.gov
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through name or fingerprint checks. http://www.dps.state.ak.us/statewide/background/
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (907) 269-0397 or search here: http://www.dps.state.ak.us/sorweb/sorweb.aspx
	Arizona
Agency	Arizona Department of Public Safety Attn: Applicant Clearance Card Team Mail Code 2200 P. O. Box 6638 Phoenix, AZ 85005-6638 (602) 223-2223 phone (602) 223-2983(Attn: Applicant Team 1) fax Website http://www.azdps.gov/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (602) 223-2876 or search here: http://www.azdps.gov/Services/Sex_Offender/

	Arkansas
Agency	Arkansas State Police Identification Bureau #1 State Police Plaza Drive Little Rock, AR 72209 (501) 618-8500 (501) 618-8404 fax Website http://www.asp.state.ar.us/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks. Check here: https://www.ark.org/criminal/index.php Instructions are here: http://www.asp.state.ar.us/demo/criminal/help_p2.php
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (501) 682-2222 or search here: http://www.acic.org/offender-search/index.php
	California
Agency	State of California Department of Justice Record Security Section, C-121 P. O. Box 903387 Sacramento, CA 94203-3870 (916) 227-2928 Website http://oag.ca.gov/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks. Check here for instructions: http://ag.ca.gov/fingerprints/index.php
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (800) 952-5225 or search here: http://www.meganslaw.ca.gov/disclaimer.aspx?lang=ENGLISH
	Colorado
Agency	Colorado Bureau of Investigations 690 Kipling Street, Suite 3000 Denver, CO 80215 (303) 239-4300 phone Website http://cbi.state.co.us/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (303) 239-4208 or search here: http://sor.state.co.us/ .

	Connecticut
Agency	State of Connecticut Department of Public Safety State Police Bureau of Identification 1111 Country Club Road Middletown, CT 06457-9294 (860) 685-8480 (for Name and Date of Birth Check) (860) 685-8270 (for Fingerprint Check) Website http://www.ct.gov/dps/cwp/view.asp?a=2154&q=294426
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (860) 685-8060 or search here: http://www.communitynotification.com/cap_office_disclaimer.php?office=54567
	Delaware
Agency	Delaware State Police State Bureau of Identification 1407 N. Dupont Highway Dover, DE 19901 (302) 739-5880 Website http://dsp.delaware.gov/StateBureauofIdentification.shtml
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through fingerprint checks. More information here: http://dsp.delaware.gov/StateBureauofIdentification.shtml#CrimHist
Sex Offender Registry	The online Sex Offender Registry is http://desexoffender.dsp.delaware.gov/SexOffenderPublic/#
	District of Columbia
Agency	Metropolitan Police Department Attn: Mail in Correspondence 300 Indiana Ave. N.W., Room 3061 Washington, DC 20001 (202) 727-4245 Website http://mpdc.dc.gov/mpdc/site/default.asp
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks. Check here for more info: http://mpdc.dc.gov/mpdc/cwp/view,a,1241,q,544820,mpdcNav_GID,1531.asp
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (202) 727-4407 or search here: http://mpdc.dc.gov/mpdc/cwp/view,a,1241,Q,540704,mpdcNav_GID,1523,mpdcNav, .asp

	Florida
Agency	Florida Department of Law Enforcement User Services Bureau Criminal History Services PO Box 1489 Tallahassee FL 32302 (850) 410-8109 Website http://www.fdle.state.fl.us/Content/home.aspx
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or on the Internet.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (850) 410.8572 or search here: http://offender.fdle.state.fl.us/offender/homepage.do;jsessionid=mE7uc+sldzq2E7CCubtt4w
	Georgia
Agency	Georgia Bureau of Investigations 3121 Panthersville Road Decatur, GA 30034 (404) 244-2770 Website http://gbi.georgia.gov/02/gbi/home/0,2615,67862954,00.html
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The online Sex Offender Registry is http://gbi.georgia.gov/00/channel_modifieddate/0,2096,67862954_8798,3024,00.html
	Hawaii
Agency	Hawaii Criminal Justice Data Center 465 South King Street Room 101 Administration Honolulu, HI 96813 (808) 587-3100 Website: http://hawaii.gov/ag/hcjdc/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (808) 587-3350 or search here: http://sexoffenders.ehawaii.gov/sexoffender/welcome.html;jsessionid=C67AA1E836BB144246CD7F917081F63B.liona

	Idaho
Agency	Idaho State Police Attn: BCI (Bureau of Criminal Identifications) 700 S. Stratford Dr. Ste 120 Meridian, ID 83642 (208) 884-7130 Website http://www.isp.idaho.gov/identification/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks. Check here for more info http://www.isp.idaho.gov/identification/PublicAccessToCriminalHistory.html
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (208) 884-7305 or search here: http://www.isp.idaho.gov/sor_id/
	Illinois
Agency	Illinois State Police Information and Technology Command Bureau of Identification 260 North Chicago Joliet, Illinois 60432-4075 (815) 740-5189 Website: http://www.isp.state.il.us/aboutisp/deptorg.cfm
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks. Check here for more info http://www.isp.state.il.us/media/docdetails.cfm?DocID=508
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (815) 740-5211 or search here: http://www.isp.state.il.us/sor/
	Indiana
Agency	Indiana State Police, Central Repository 100 North Senate Avenue, Room N302 Indianapolis, IN 46202-259 (317) 232-8266 Website: http://www.in.gov/isp/2368.htm
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks. Check here for more info http://www.in.gov/ai/appfiles/isp-lch/
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (317) 232-2560 or search here: http://www.in.gov/idoc/reentry/2505.htm

	Iowa
Agency	Iowa Division of Criminal Investigation Support Operations Bureau Wallace State Office Building Des Moines, IA 50319 (515) 281-5011 (515) 242-6876 fax Website: http://www.dps.state.ia.us/DCI/supportoperations/index.shtml
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (515) 281-4976 or search here: http://www.iowasexoffender.com/
	Kansas
Agency	Kansas Bureau of Investigation Attn: Criminal History Records Section 1620 SW Tyler Topeka, KS 66612-1837 (785) 296-8200 Website: http://www.accesskansas.org/kbi/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks. Check here for more info http://www.kansas.gov/kbi/criminalhistory/
Sex Offender Registry	The online Sex Offender Registry is http://www.accesskansas.org/kbi/ro.shtml
	Kentucky
Agency	Kentucky State Police, Criminal Identifications and Records Branch Criminal Records Dissemination Section 1250 Louisville Road Frankfort, KY 40601 (502) 227-8713 (502) 227-8734 fax Website: http://www.kentuckystatepolice.org/index_test.htm
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks. More info here http://www.kentuckystatepolice.org/background_check_forms.htm
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (502) 227-8700 or search here: http://kspsor.state.ky.us/

	Louisiana
Agency	Louisiana State Police Bureau of Criminal Identification and Information P.O. Box 66614 #A6 Baton Rouge, LA 70896-6614 (225) 925-6095 (225) 925-7005 fax Website: http://www.lsp.org/technical.html
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks or online at https://laapps.dps.louisiana.gov/
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (225) 925-6100 or search here: http://www.lsp.org/socpr/default.html
	Maine
Agency	State Bureau of Identification 42 State House Station Augusta, ME 04333 (207) 624-7240 Website: http://www.maine.gov/dps/Sbi/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks. More info here http://www.maine.gov/dps/Sbi/chri.html
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (207) 624-7100 or search here: http://www.maine.gov/dps/Sbi/sor.html
	Maryland
Agency	Dept. of Public Safety and Correctional Services P. O. Box 32708 Pikesville, MD 21282-2708 (410) 764-4501 Website: http://www.dpscs.state.md.us/publicservs/bgchecks.shtml
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry is available through a written request including name, address and reason for your request either faxed to (866) 559-8017 or e-mailed to sor@dpscs.state.md.us or search here: http://dpscs.maryland.gov/onlineservs/socem/default.shtml

	Agency	Massachusetts Department of Criminal Justice Information Services Attn: CORI unit 200 Arlington Street Chelsea, MA 02150 (617) 660-4600 (617) 660-4613 fax Website: http://www.mass.gov/?pageID=eopsagencylanding&L=3&L0=Home&L1=Public+Safety+Agencies&L2=Department+of+Criminal+Justice+Information+Services+%28DCJIS%29&sid=Eeops
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks.
Sex Offender Registry		The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (978) 740-6400 or search here: http://www.mass.gov/?pageID=eopsagencylanding&L=3&L0=Home&L1=Public+Safety+Agencies&L2=Sex+Offender+Registry+Board+%28SORB%29&sid=Eeops
	Agency	Michigan Michigan State Police CRD Identification Section P.O. Box 30634 Lansing, MI 48909 (517) 241-1934 (517) 241-1935 fax Website: http://www.michigan.gov/msp
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks. More info here http://apps.michigan.gov/ICHAT/Home.aspx
Sex Offender Registry		The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (517) 322-4939 or search here: http://www.michigan.gov/msp/0,1607,7-123-1589_1878_24961---,00.html
	Agency	Minnesota Minnesota Department of Public Safety Bureau of Criminal Apprehension Criminal Justice Information Systems Section 1430 Maryland Ave. East St. Paul, MN 55106 (651) 793-7000 (651) 793-7001 fax Website: https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/Pages/default.aspx
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks. More info here https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/pages/background-checks.aspx
Sex Offender Registry		The Sex Offender Registry phone number is (651) 603-6748 or search here: https://dps.mn.gov/divisions/bca/pages/background-checks.aspx

	Agency	Mississippi Mississippi State Department of Public Safety Child Care Facilities Licensure Central Office P.O. Box 958 Jackson, MS 39205 (601) 933-2600 Website: http://www.dps.state.ms.us/dps/dps.nsf
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry		The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (601) 987-1540 or search here: http://www.sor.mdps.state.ms.us/sorpublic/hpsor_search.aspx
	Agency	Missouri Missouri State Highway Patrol Criminal Records and ID Division P.O. Box 568 1510 East Elm St. Jefferson City, MO 65102 (573) 526-6153 Website: http://www.mshp.dps.mo.gov/MSHPWeb/PatrolDivisions/CRID/crimRecChk.html
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry		The online Sex Offender Registry is http://www.mshp.dps.mo.gov/MSHPWeb/PatrolDivisions/CRID/SOR/SORPage.html
	Agency	Montana Department of Justice P.O. Box 201401 Helena, MT 59620-1401 (406) 444-2026 (406) 444-3549fax Website: http://www.doj.mt.gov/enforcement/criminaljustice/backgroundchecks.asp
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry		The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (406) 444-9479 or search here: http://www.doj.mt.gov/svor/
	Agency	Nebraska Nebraska State Patrol Criminal Identification Division P.O. Box 94907 Lincoln, NE 68509 (402) 471-4545 Website: http://statepatrol.nebraska.gov/CriminalHistory.aspx
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.

Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (402) 471-8647 or search here: http://www.nsp.state.ne.us/sor/index.cfm
Agency	Nevada Nevada Criminal History Repository 333 West Nye Lane Suite 100 Carson City, NV 89706 (715) 684-6262 (715) 684-6266 Website: http://nvrepository.state.nv.us/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The online Sex Offender Registry is http://nvrepository.state.nv.us/sor_nav.shtml
Agency	New Hampshire New Hampshire State Police James Hayes Safety Building 10 Hazen Drive Concord, NH 03305 (603) 271-2538 Website: http://www.nh.gov/safety/divisions/nhsp/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (603) 223-3870 or search here: http://www4.egov.nh.gov/nsor/
Agency	New Jersey Division of New Jersey State Police Attn. CIU P. O. Box 7068 West Trenton, NJ 08625-0068 (609) 882-2000 Website: http://nj.gov/njsp/about/serv_chrc.html
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (609) 882-2000 or search here: http://www.state.nj.us/njsp/info/reg_sexoffend.html
Agency	New Mexico Department of Public Safety P.O. Box 1628 Santa Fe, NM 87504-1628 (505) 827-9000 Website: http://www.dps.nm.org/lawEnforcement/records.php
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (505) 827-3314 or search here: http://www.nmsexoffender.dps.state.nm.us/

	Agency	New York Office of Court Administration Division of Criminal Justice Services 4 Tower Place Albany, New York 12203-3764 (518) 457-5837 Website: http://criminaljustice.state.ny.us/ojis/recordreview.htm
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks.
Sex Offender Registry		The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (518) 457-5837 or search here: http://criminaljustice.state.ny.us/nsor/
	Agency	North Carolina Department of Justice State Bureau of Investigation Post Office Box 29500 Raleigh, NC 27626 (919) 662-4500 (919) 662-4523 Website: http://www.nccourts.org/Citizens/GoToCourt/Default.asp?topic=1
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry		The online Sex Offender Registry is available at http://sexoffender.ncdoj.gov/ .
	Agency	North Dakota North Dakota Bureau of Criminal Investigations Criminal Records Section 600 E. Boulevard Ave. Dept. 125 Bismarck, ND 58505 (701) 328-5500 Website: http://www.ag.nd.gov/bci/BCI.htm
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry		The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (701) 328-5500 or search here: http://www.sexoffender.nd.gov/
	Agency	Ohio Ohio Bureau of Criminal Identification 1560 St. Route 56SW London, OH 43140 (740) 845-2000 Website: http://www.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/Services/Business/WebCheck.aspx/?from=nav
Criminal Background Check		Criminal background records are obtained through fingerprints
Sex Offender Registry		The online Sex Offender Registry is http://www.esorn.ag.state.oh.us/Secured/p21_2.aspx?from=nav

Criminal Background Check	Agency	<p>Oklahoma Oklahoma State Bureau of Identification Criminal History Reporting 6600 North Harvey, Building 6, Suite 140 Oklahoma City, OK 73116 (405) 848-6724 (405) 879-2503 Website: http://www.ok.gov/osbi/Criminal_History/</p>
Sex Offender Registry		<p>Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks. The Sex Offender Hotline is (800) 522-8017 or search here: http://docapp8.doc.state.ok.us/servlet/page?_pageid=422&_dad=portal30&_schema=PORTAL30&id=1</p>
Criminal Background Check	Agency	<p>Oregon Oregon State Police, Attn: Open Records, Unit 11 3772 Portland Rd NE Salem, OR 97301 (503) 378-3070 (503) 378-2121 fax Website: http://www.oregon.gov/OSP/ID/public_records.shtml</p>
Sex Offender Registry		<p>Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks. The Sex Offender hotline is (503) 378-3720 or search here: http://sexoffenders.oregon.gov/</p>
Criminal Background Check	Agency	<p>Pennsylvania Pennsylvania State Police Records and Identification Division 1800 Elmerton Avenue Harrisburg, PA 17110 (717) 783-5492 (717) 772-3681 fax Website: http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=512&objID=4451&&PageID=458621&level=2&css=L2&mode=2</p>
Sex Offender Registry		<p>Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks. The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (717) 705-4253 or search here: http://www.pameganslaw.state.pa.us/</p>

<p>Agency</p> <p>Criminal Background Check</p> <p>Sex Offender Registry</p>	<p>Rhode Island</p> <p>Department of Attorney General Office Attn: BCI 150 South Maine Street Providence, RI 02903 (401) 274-4400 Website: http://www.riag.ri.gov/bci/</p> <p>Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks.</p> <p>The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (401) 462-0905 or search here: http://www.paroleboard.ri.gov/sexoffender/agree.php</p>
<p>Agency</p> <p>Criminal Background Check</p> <p>Sex Offender Registry</p>	<p>South Carolina</p> <p>SLED (State Law Enforcement Division) Attn: Records P. O. Box 21398 Columbia, SC 29221 (803) 896-7216 Website: http://www.sled.sc.gov/</p> <p>Criminal background records are obtained through name and date of birth checks. Criminal background records can be obtained online at http://www.sled.state.sc.us/sled/default.asp?Category=CATCH_SSN&Service=crc.</p> <p>The online Sex Offender Registry is available at http://www.communitynotification.com/cap_main.php?office=54575.</p>
<p>Agency</p> <p>Criminal Background Check</p> <p>Sex Offender Registry</p>	<p>South Dakota</p> <p>Division of Criminal Investigation Identification Section 500 East Capital Pierre, SD 57501-5070 (605) 773-3331 (605) 773-2235 fax Website: http://dci.sd.gov/Operations/Identification/BackgroundCheckRequirements.aspx</p> <p>Criminal background records are obtained through fingerprint checks.</p> <p>The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (605) 773-4614 or search here: http://sor.sd.gov/</p>

	Tennessee
Agency	Tennessee Bureau of Investigation Identification Services 901 R. S. Gaas Blvd. Nashville, TN 37216 (615) 744-4000 Website http://www.tbi.state.tn.us/background_checks/backgrd_checks.shtml
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (615) 744-4000 or search here: http://www.tbi.state.tn.us/sex_ofender_reg/sex_ofender_reg.shtml
	Texas
Agency	Texas Department of Public Safety Crime Records Division P.O. Box 4143 Austin, Texas 78765 (512) 424-2478 Website: https://records.txdps.state.tx.us/DpsWebsite/CriminalHistory/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline (512) 424-2279 or search here: https://records.txdps.state.tx.us/DPS_WEB/SorNew/Index.aspx
	Utah
Agency	Utah Bureau of Criminal Identification 3888 W. 5400 South Salt Lake City, UT 84129 (801) 965-4445 Website: http://publicsafety.utah.gov/bci/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (801) 545-5500 or search here: http://corrections.utah.gov/services/sonar.html
	Vermont
Agency	Vermont Criminal Information Center Department of Public Safety 103 South Main Street Waterbury, VT 05671-2101 (802) 244-8727 Website http://vcic.vermont.gov/record_checks
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (802) 241-5400 or search here: https://secure.vermont.gov/DPS/sor/agreement.php

	Virginia
Agency	Virginia State Police Records Management P.O. Box 85076 Richmond, VA 23261-5076 (804) 674-2133 Website: http://www.vsp.state.va.us/CJIS_Criminal_Record_Check.shtm
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (804) 674-2147 or search here: http://sex-offender.vsp.virginia.gov/sor/
	Washington
Agency	Washington State Patrol Identification and Criminal History Section P. O. Box 42633 Olympia, WA 98504-2633 (360) 705-5100 Website: http://www.wsp.wa.gov/crime/chrequests.htm
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The online Sex Offender Registry is http://ml.waspc.org/
	West Virginia
Agency	West Virginia State Police Criminal Identification Bureau Records Section 725 Jefferson Road South Charleston, WV 25309-1698 (304) 746-2100 Website: http://www.wvstatepolice.com
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline (304) 746-2133 or search here: http://www.wvstatepolice.com/sexoff/websearchform.cfm
	Wisconsin
Agency	Crime Information Bureau Record Check Unit P.O. Box 2688 Madison, WI 53701 -2688 (608) 266-5764 (608) 267-4558 Website: http://wi-recordcheck.org/
Criminal Background Check	Criminal background records are obtained through either name and date of birth checks or fingerprint checks.
Sex Offender Registry	The Sex Offender Registry hotline (800) 398-2403 or search here: http://www.wi-doc.com/offender.htm

Agency	Wyoming Division of Criminal Investigation 316 West 22nd St. Cheyenne, WY 82002-0150 (307) 777-7181 Website: http://attorneygeneral.state.wy.us/dci/
Criminal Background Check Sex Offender Registry	Criminal background records are obtained through fingerprint checks. The Sex Offender Registry hotline is (307) 777-7181 or search here: http://wysors.dci.wyo.gov/sor/